
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

WESTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA     )
    )

      v. )    No.  12 CR 50027
   ) Judge Philip G.  Reinhard

RITA A. CRUNDWELL       )

GOVERNMENT’S APPLICATION FOR POST-INDICTMENT RESTRAINING ORDER

The United States of America, through PATRICK J. FITZGERALD, United States Attorney

for the Northern District of Illinois, makes application to this Court, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. §

853(e)(1)(A), for a Post-Indictment Restraining Order to preserve the availability of certain

properties that are subject to forfeiture in the above-styled criminal action.  As grounds therefor, the

government states as follows:

1. That pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 853(e)(1), this Court is authorized to enter a restraining

order or injunction, require the execution of satisfactory performance bond, or take any other action

to preserve the availability of property subject to forfeiture.

2. That on May 1, 2012,  RITA  A. CRUNDWELL, was indicted by a federal grand

jury for this district on a charge of wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343.  The indictment

sought forfeiture to the United States of all right, title and interest of defendant RITA A.

CRUNDWELL, in property, real or personal, which constitutes and is derived from proceeds

traceable to the charged wire fraud offenses, pursuant to the provisions of 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C)

and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c), including but not limited to funds in the amount of $53,000,000, and the

following real property:

a. real property commonly known as 1679 U.S. Route 52, Dixon, Illinois (“US

Route 52 property”); and 
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b. the real property commonly known as 1556 Red Brick Road, Dixon, Illinois

(“Red Brick Road property”);

3. That said Indictment alleges that the properties with respect to which the order is

sought would, in the event of the conviction of RITA  A. CRUNDWELL, be subject to forfeiture

under 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c). 

4. That the federal grand jury’s indictment of  RITA  A. CRUNDWELL for a violation

of18 U.S.C. § 1343, which specifically identified properties as being subject to forfeiture under 18

U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and  28 U.S.C. § 2461(c), establishes sufficient probable cause for the

issuance of this restraining order.  See United States v. Monsanto, 491 U.S. 600, 615-16 (1989) (the

standard for issuing a restraining order is probable cause).  Title 18, United States Code, Section

981(a)(1)(C) provides that “any property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from

proceeds traceable to a violation of ... any offense constituting ‘specified unlawful activity’ (as

defined in section 1956(c)(7) of this title), ...” is subject to forfeiture to the United States.  An

offense involving wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343 is a  “specified unlawful activity”

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(c)(7)(A) and 1961(1)(B). 

5. That pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 853, as incorporated by 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c), this Court

has jurisdiction to enter orders or to take other action to preserve and to protect property to insure

that the property or its equity will be available for forfeiture in the event of conviction.   Title 21,

United States Code, Section 853(e)(1) provides in pertinent part:

Upon application of the United States, the Court may enter a restraining
order or injunction, require the execution of a satisfactory performance bond,
or take any other action to preserve the availability of property described in
subsection (a) of this section for forfeiture under this section - 
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(A)  upon the filing of an indictment or information charging
a violation of this subchapter or subchapter II of this chapter
for which criminal forfeiture may be ordered under this
section and alleging that the property with respect to which
the order is sought would, in the event of conviction, be
subject to forfeiture under this section.

If the Government makes the required probable cause showing, the issuance of the pre-trial

restraining order is mandatory; the court’s only discretion concerns the manner of the restraint.  See

United States v. Monsanto, 491 U.S. at 612-13 (the word “may” in section 853(e) means only that

the district court may enter a restraining order if the Government requests it, but not otherwise, and

that it is not required to enter the order if a bond or other means exists to preserve the property; it

“cannot sensibly be construed to give district court[s] discretion to permit the dissipation of the very

property that section 853(a) requires to be forfeited upon conviction”). 

6. That destruction or the transfer, movement, conveyance, or encumbrance of the

subject properties by the defendant or any third party could render said properties unavailable for

forfeiture.

7. That any third party claims to the subject properties may be properly brought and

resolved in ancillary proceedings conducted by this Court following the execution of a Preliminary

Order of Forfeiture and service of notice to all interested parties in accordance with the provisions

of federal forfeiture law.

8. That defendant owns approximately 308 horses and approximately 212 of those

horses are located on the Route 52 and Red Brick Road properties.  Defendant’s personal bank

account was seized at the time of her arrest and she lacks the funds to maintain the Route 52 and Red

Brick Road properties.  The defendant, through her attorneys, does not object to the issuance of the

restraining order but in doing so is not admitting to the allegations contained in the indictment.  
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9. Accordingly, in order to preserve the availability of the equity in the real properties

subject to forfeiture, the United States requests that this Court enter a restraining order permitting

the United States to take all necessary steps to ensure that equity in the real properties subject to

forfeiture is preserved.

10. The United States requests that, effective immediately, RITA  A. CRUNDWELL,

her agents, servants, employees, attorneys, family members and those persons in active concert or

participation with her, and those persons, financial institutions, or other entities who have any

interest or control over the subject property be RESTRAINED, ENJOINED, AND PROHIBITED,

without prior approval of this Court and upon notice to the United States and an opportunity for the

United States to be heard, from attempting or completing any action that would affect the

availability, marketability or value of said property, including but not limited to selling, transferring,

assigning, pledging, distributing, encumbering, wasting, secreting, depreciating, damaging, or in any

way diminishing the value of, all or any part of their interest, direct or indirect, in the following

property:

a. the property commonly known as 1679 U.S. Route 52, Dixon, Illinois; and

b. the property commonly known as 1556 Red Brick Road, Dixon, Illinois.

11. The United States further requests that, pending forfeiture of the Route 52 and Red

Brick Road properties, the United States Marshals Service be permitted to access to those properties

and all farm and horse equipment located on the properties, for the limited purpose of securing the

premises and taking whatever steps are necessary to preserve the value for forfeiture, including but

not limited to, caring for the horses on the property, cutting the grass, and paying the utility bills for

the property.  
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WHEREFORE, the United States respectfully requests that this Court grant its motion and

issue a restraining order regarding the real property commonly known as  1679 U.S. Route 52,

Dixon, Illinois and 1556 Red Brick Road, Dixon, Illinois as permitted by 21 U.S.C. § 853, as

incorporated by 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c), or any appropriate relief to preserve the availability of the real

property for forfeiture.

The Government further requests that the U.S. Marshal or his designee be directed to

promptly serve a copy of this Restraining Order upon RITA  A. CRUNDWELL, and those persons,

financial institutions, or entities who have any interest or control over the subject property and make

a return thereon reflecting the date and time of service.  A proposed Restraining Order is submitted

herewith for the convenience of the Court

The Government further requests that this Restraining Order remain in full force and effect

until further order of this Court.  

Respectfully submitted,

PATRICK J. FITZGERALD
United States Attorney

By:     /s Joseph C. Pedersen                           
JOSEPH C. PEDERSEN  
Assistant United States Attorney
327 South Church Street, Suite 3300 
Rockford, Illinois 61101
(815) 987-4444
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned Assistant United States Attorney hereby certifies that the following

document:

GOVERNMENT’S APPLICATION 
FOR POST-INDICTMENT RESTRAINING ORDER

was served on May 1, 2012, in accordance with FED. R. CRIM. P. 49, FED. R. CIV. P. 5, LR 5.5, and

the General Order on Electronic Case Filing (ECF) pursuant to the district court’s system as to ECF

filers.

        /s/      Joseph C. Pedersen     
JOSEPH C. PEDERSEN
Assistant United States Attorney
327 South Church Street - Room 3300
Rockford, Illinois 61101
(815) 987-4444
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